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JURISDICTION 

The Nevada Supreme Court and Nevada Court of Appeals have jurisdiction 

under Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution and NRS 177.015(3). 

This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and sentence.  The 

district court sentenced Appellant Jack Leal (“Leal”) on August 17, 2017. The 

district court entered a written judgment of conviction on August 23, 2017. On 

September 22, 2017, Leal filed this appeal.  

ROUTING STATEMENT 

 

 Because this is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction and sentence, it 

is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(1).   

STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

 

Whether the district court properly sentenced Leal because Leal obviously 

breached the guilty plea agreement and the State expressly retained the right to argue 

for a term of imprisonment? 

Whether the district court correctly proceeded with sentencing because no 

conflict of interest existed, and even if it did, Leal forever waived it? 

 

STATEMENT OF CASE 

 

Appellant Jack Leal (“Leal”) entered into a plea bargain with the State 

wherein he agreed to plead guilty to one count of Multiple Transactions Involving 

Fraud or Deceit in Course of Enterprise or Occupation, and to be jointly and 
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severally liable for paying $757,420 in “restitution in full at or before the time [Leal 

is] sentenced…” Appellant’s Appendix (AA) at 89-90. In exchange, the State agreed 

to dismiss one count of Racketeering and twelve counts of Theft in the Amount of 

$3,500 or more and not oppose probation. AA 89-90. In the event that Leal failed to 

pay the restitution in full at or before his sentencing, the State expressly retained the 

right to argue for a term of imprisonment. AA 89. 

Leal signed two conflict-of-interest waivers prior to his sentencing, 

consenting to dual representation of himself and his co-defendant, Jennifer Garcia 

(“Garcia”). AA 82, 100-102.  

At the time set for sentencing, Leal and Garcia failed to pay full restitution as 

agreed in the Guilty Plea Agreement (GPA). AA 122. Leal’s attorney claimed a 

conflict of interest arose between Leal and Garcia after the initial arraignment, but 

before sentencing due to a no contact order that prevented Leal and Garcia from 

“working together.” AA 124. Recognizing that Leal and Garcia had executed two 

conflict-of-interest waivers, the district court proceeded with sentencing. AA 119. 

Due to Leal’s blatant breach of the GPA, Respondent-Appellee (“the State”) argued 

for a term of imprisonment for a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) months and 

a minimum of sixty (60) months with no objection by Leal or his attorney. AA 120. 

The district court sentenced Leal to a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) months 
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with a minimum parole eligibility of seventy-two (72) months in the Nevada 

Department of Corrections with zero days for time served. AA 140. 

Because Leal breached the GPA by showing up to his sentencing without 

having paid the restitution in full, there was no need for the district court to 

investigate and examine an alleged breach by the State when Leal and his attorney 

did not object to the State arguing for a term of imprisonment and when Leal himself 

had already indisputably breached the plea agreement. In addition, the district court 

correctly proceeded with sentencing. While Leal’s attorney claimed a conflict of 

interest arose between Leal and Garcia, no such conflict actually existed because the 

two co-defendants had agreed to be jointly and severally liable for the restitution. 

Even if a conflict of interest existed, Leal and Garcia forever waived any beforehand. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. Complaint for Forfeiture and Notice of Lis Pendens 

On September 30, 2016, Respondent-Appellee, the State of Nevada (“the 

State”) filed an in rem action requesting the forfeiture of $6,616.04 and $150,489.13 

from two Bank of America accounts opened under the name of Parcelnomics, LLC, 

and real property located at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson, Nevada 89002 

(“the Henderson property”) purchased by Jessica Garcia (“Garcia”) and transferred 

to 1024 Santa Helena Trust. AA 2-10. The State also filed a Notice of Lis Pendens 

on September 30, 2015. AA 11-12. As alleged in the Complaint for Forfeiture, Leal 
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and Garcia, the managing members of Parcelnomics, falsely advertised, represented, 

and sold encumbered real property to victims and used the proceeds to purchase the 

Henderson property. AA 2-10.  

II. Criminal Complaint 

On November 29, 2016, the State filed a Criminal Complaint against Leal, 

Parcelnomics, and Garcia charging all three defendants with one (1) count of 

Racketeering, a category B felony, twelve (12) counts of Theft in the Amount of 

$3,500 or more, a category B Felony, and one (1) count of Multiple Transactions 

Involving Fraud or Deceit in Course of Enterprise or Occupation, a category B 

felony. AA 15-38. The State alleged that on or about March 1, 2015, through March 

31, 2016, Leal and Garcia, as managing members of Parcelnomics, solicited 

prospective purchasers for several properties in Nevada (“the real properties”) on 

Zillow.com, Craigslist.org, and eBay.com. AA 15-38.  

The State also alleged that Leal and Garcia, as managing members of 

Parcelnomics, knowingly and falsely represented that the titles for the real properties 

were not encumbered by liens or other security interests. AA 15-38. The State further 

alleged that Leal and Garcia, as managing members of Parcelnomics, unlawfully 

obtained $886,800.00 from the sale of the real properties encumbered with liens 

and/or other security interests from their victims. AA 15-38. The Complaint alleged 

that upon conviction of the offenses charged, the State requested forfeiture of the 

STATE 00009



 5 

 

real and personal property derived from the unlawful acts. AA 15-38. The State filed 

an Amended Criminal Complaint on December 27, 2016 clarifying the forfeiture 

amounts requested from the real and personal property derived from the unlawful 

acts. AA 40-62. The State took no action on the Complaint for Forfeiture due to the 

pending criminal proceedings against Leal and Garcia. AA 146. 

III. First Conflict-of-Interest Waiver 

On April 11, 2017, Leal unconditionally waived his right to a preliminary 

hearing and filed an Unconditional Waiver of Preliminary Hearing and Conflict-of-

Interest Waiver. AA 79-83. In the Conflict-of-Interest Waiver, Jason G. Weiner, 

Esq. (“Attorney Weiner”) disclosed that a conflict of interest may arise due to his 

dual representation of Leal and Garcia. AA 82. Despite this known risk, Leal 

“knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily consent[ed] to dual representation…and 

[he] hereby waive[d] any right to later file an appeal or claim ineffective assistance 

of counsel based on a conflict-of-interest arising out of this dual representation.” AA 

82. 

At Leal’s initial arraignment, on April 20, 2017, Attorney Weiner requested a 

continuance and informed the hearing master the he was representing both 

defendants and had just filed conflict waivers in the justice court. AA 86. Upon 

inquiry from the hearing master, Leal confirmed that he waived conflicts for 

Attorney Weiner to represent him and Garcia. AA 86.  
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IV. Guilty Plea Agreement 

On April 24, 2017, Leal appeared for his continued initial arraignment. AA 

103-12. Leal executed a GPA in which he entered a plea of guilty to one (1) count 

of Multiple Transactions Involving Fraud or Deceit in the Course of an Enterprise 

or Occupation, in exchange for a dismissal of one (1) count of Racketeering, twelve 

(12) counts in the Criminal Complaint, and the State’s agreement to not oppose 

probation. AA 88-93. Leal also agreed to pay restitution in the amount of $757,420 

to the eleven victims “at or before the time [he] [is] sentenced in the present case.” 

AA 88-89. Leal agreed that he and Garcia were jointly and severally responsible for 

the restitution. AA 89. Leal further agreed that he would execute and file in the Clark 

County Recorder’s Office a lien agreement and lien in favor of the State of Nevada, 

Office of the Attorney General, in the amount of $600,314.83 against the Henderson 

property, with the proceeds of the sale from the Henderson property to be applied to 

any restitution owed. AA 89-90. 

In the GPA, Leal acknowledged that should he “fail to pay restitution in full 

at or before the time [he] [is] sentenced in the present case, the State will retain the 

right to argue for the imposition of a term of imprisonment.” AA 89. Leal also 

acknowledged that he understood the victims would be allowed to make impact 

statements at his sentencing. AA 90. Leal further acknowledged that despite any 
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recommendations made by the State or his own attorney, the district court “is not 

obligated to accept the recommendation.” AA 91.  

V. Second Conflict-of-Interest Waiver 

Leal executed a second Conflict-of-Interest Waiver that the district court filed 

with the GPA. AA 100-02. In the second Conflict-of-Interest Waiver, Leal 

acknowledged that Attorney Weiner advised him of his right “to consult with 

independent counsel to review the potential conflict of interest posed by dual 

representation and the consequences of waiving the right to conflict free 

representation.” AA 100. Leal also acknowledged that if he chose not to seek advice 

of independent counsel, then he expressly waived his right to do so. AA 100. Leal 

further expressly waived his right to withdraw his guilty plea or to a mistrial as a 

result of his attorney’s potential and actual conflict of interest depriving him of his 

right to effective assistance of counsel arising from the dual representation. AA 100. 

Leal acknowledged that the “waiver of conflict is binding through trial, on appeal, 

and in habeas proceedings.” AA 100. In spite of the known risk to dual 

representation, Leal “knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily” consented to dual 

representation of his attorney with his co-defendant. AA 101.  

The hearing master acknowledged on the record that waiver was “in front of 

[her] where Mr. Jack Leal is agreeing that Mr. Weiner can also represent the co-

defendant, and that there’s not a conflict of interest. Correct sir?” AA 111. Leal 
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replied “[c]orrect.” AA 111. During the plea canvass, the hearing master thoroughly 

canvassed Leal. AA 104-12. The hearing master reiterated the terms of the GPA, 

including the term where Leal agreed to be jointly and severally responsible for 

paying back the restitution in full with Garcia in the amount of $757,420 at or before 

sentencing. AA 105. The hearing master also reiterated to Leal that should he fail to 

pay the restitution in full before his sentencing, the State expressly retained the right 

to argue for the imposition of a term of imprisonment. AA 105. After the hearing 

master thoroughly canvassed Leal, Leal entered a plea of guilty to one (1) count of 

Multiple Transactions Involving Fraud, a category B felony. AA 103-12. The 

hearing master accepted Leal’s plea as freely and voluntarily entered and set the 

matter for sentencing for the furthest date out—to allow Leal time to sell the 

Henderson property to pay restitution. AA 111-12. As Attorney Weiner explained, 

“if it’s not sold there is a penalty to my clients in terms of the State having RTA 

meaning the right to argue for imprisonment.” AA 112.  

VI. Sentencing 

At the time set for sentencing, Leal and Garcia had not paid any restitution.  

AA 122. As a result, the State argued for a term of imprisonment and recommended 

sixty (60) to one hundred eighty (180) months based on eleven (11) victims and the 

three quarters of a million dollars stolen. AA 120. The State also argued that Leal 

had two prior felonies, one for forgery and one for theft by deception and possession 
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of a fraudulent ID. AA 120. The State further argued that Leal had done little to 

nothing to make restitution in the case when he had from April to August, the time 

between his initial arraignment and sentencing, to sell the Henderson property to pay 

the restitution. AA 120. According to the State, the first time Leal did anything was 

a week before his sentencing; and thus, Leal did nothing for four months. AA 121. 

Leal stated that he had issues with Garcia and a no contact order deterred contact for 

the past sixty (60) days, which caused the delay. AA 121. According to Leal, Garcia 

was in charge of the property sale and he assumed she was selling the house. AA 

121. Upon questioning by the district court, Leal explained that he transferred the 

title to the house from the trust to himself because Garcia had “nothing done to this 

point,” and claimed “[t]he restitution – I mean there should be no issue with it. I have 

a copy of the title policy I’ve got. No liens; the property’s free and clear.” AA 121-

22. Due to Leal’s representation that the Henderson property had “no liens,” the 

State pointed out that the house had two liens. AA 121-22. Leal also claimed that he 

“had no idea [the restitution] wasn’t taken care of or paid” and “[a]s far as the 

situation that happened, we were under the assumption that – we didn’t explain it 

correctly,…what we were selling.” AA 122. When the district court asked where the 

$750,000.00 went, Leal stated that it went into purchasing the Henderson property 

he just put on the market. AA 122-23.  

In regards to the alleged conflict of interest, Attorney Weiner stated that the 
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dispute between Leal and Garcia “began after the change of plea but before 

sentencing.” AA 124. Attorney Weiner also stated that he had contacted the bar 

ethics hotline who recommended he withdraw. AA 124. Attorney Weiner further 

stated that he would “make that motion.” AA 124. The district court asked Attorney 

Weiner what the purported conflict of interest was between Leal and Garcia. AA 

124. Attorney Weiner explained that “[t]hey were supposed to be working together. 

Then they had a no contact order so they couldn’t. So they’re now basically pointing 

at each other saying this is – She’s saying this is his fault, he’s saying that’s her fault. 

That’s an antagonistic defense.” AA 124. AA 124-25. The district court explained 

that “it’s not a defense to the case…because if it says why the…restitution wasn’t 

paid and this is joint and several which means if one…doesn’t pay the other owes 

the full amount…” AA 124-25.  

VII. Victim Impact Statements 

Since the State filed a Notice of Intent to Present Victim Impact Statements 

on August 11, 2017, three (3) of the victims spoke at Leal’s sentencing, Irene Segura 

(“Segura”), Luis Palafox for Lena Palafox (“Palafox”), and LoryLee Plancarte 

(“Plancarte”). AA 114-15, 128-36. Segura stated that Leal and Garcia stole her 

grandson’s college fund by scamming them with two worthless properties. AA 129. 

Palafox stated that his wife paid $60,000.00 for one property, but now they are 

renting property and living check to check. AA 132-33. Plancarte spoke and stated 
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that she “was told her property was free and clear from a bankruptcy sale” and found 

out when they went to refinance that there was a mortgage on the property. AA 135. 

Plancarte also stated that she had not seen any restitution. AA 136. Attorney Weiner 

responded to the victim impact statements. AA 137-39. Despite the State’s request, 

the district court sentenced Leal to imprisonment for a maximum of one hundred 

eighty (180) months with a minimum parole eligibility of seventy-two (72) months, 

with zero (0) days credit for time served. AA 140-41. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The district court properly sentenced Leal after he failed to pay the restitution 

in full at or before his sentencing. Because Leal is obviously to blame for the breach 

of the GPA, an evidentiary hearing to determine blameworthiness is unnecessary. 

Villalpando v. State, 107 Nev. 465, 468, 814 P.2d 78, 80 (1991). In order for the 

State to not oppose probation, Leal needed to pay the restitution in full at or before 

his sentencing. AA 89. While Leal may have needed to sell the Henderson property 

to obtain the money to pay full restitution, the GPA did not require Leal to sell the 

Henderson property to pay the restitution. AA 89-90. Instead, the GPA allowed for 

any proceeds from the sale of the Henderson property to be applied to any restitution 

owed. AA 90. As such, the language in the GPA clearly left the means of paying 

restitution to Leal’s discretion. AA 89. Rather than take the four (4) months between 

his initial arraignment and sentencing to sell the real property, Leal waited six (6) 
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days before sentencing to start the process of putting the Henderson property on the 

market to pay the restitution already past due. As it was obvious Leal was to blame 

for the breach of the GPA, the State was released from its promise to not oppose 

probation. As the State argued for a term of imprisonment in accordance with the 

terms of the GPA, without objection by Leal or his counsel, the Court should find 

that the district court did not commit plain error at sentencing. 

Additionally, the district court did not abuse its discretion in proceeding with 

Leal’s sentencing because no conflict of interest existed. While Leal claims that the 

district court erred in denying Attorney Weiner’s motion to withdraw as counsel, 

EDCR 7.40(b)(2) requires counsel of record to withdraw by written motion. The 

record reflects that a bench conference occurred prior to Leal’s sentencing where 

Attorney Weiner may have made an oral motion to withdraw as counsel, but the 

record later contradicts this allegation for Attorney Weiner informed the district 

court that “[he] did. [He] will make that motion” effectively indicating that he would 

file a motion to withdraw as counsel in the future. AA 124. 

Nonetheless, no conflict of interest existed to warrant withdrawal of counsel 

because Leal and Garcia agreed to be jointly and severally liable for restitution. AA 

89. As the district court indicated, the fact that Leal and Garcia are going to blame 

each other for the unpaid restitution does not create a conflict of interest since both 

agreed to pay the restitution in full. AA 125. Even if there was a conflict of interest, 
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Leal knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily embraced a potentially conflicted dual 

representation. Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark, 123 Nev. 

419, 430, 168 P.3d 703, 710 (2007). Leal signed a conflict-of-interest waiver in the 

justice court and a conflict-of-interest waiver in district court at his initial 

arraignment wherein he waived any actual or potential conflict from the dual 

representation of him and Garcia. AA 79-83; 100-102. As a result, Leal forever 

waived any actual or potential conflict of interest at his initial arraignment. 

Based on the foregoing, the judgment of conviction should be affirmed. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review 

This Court reviews unpreserved breach-of-plea allegations for plain error. The 

defendant’s failure to object to the prosecutor’s comments at sentencing “may be 

considered as evidence of the defendant’s understanding of the terms of a plea 

agreement.” Sullivan v. State, 115 Nev. 383, 387 n. 3, 990 P.2d 1258, 1260 n. 3 

(1999); see also Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129, 143 (2009) (holding 

unpreserved breach-of-plea-allegations are subject to plain-error review).  

Additionally, this Court reviews a district court’s denial of a defendant’s 

request to substitute counsel for an abuse of discretion. Young v. State, 120 Nev. 

963, 968, 102 P.3d 572, 576 (2004).  
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II. The District Court Properly Sentenced Leal Because Leal Obviously 

Breached the Guilty Plea Agreement, and the State Retained the Right 

to Argue for Imprisonment. 

The district court properly sentenced Leal because Leal clearly violated the 

GPA. Contract principles apply when analyzing a written plea agreement. If a 

defendant breaches the plea agreement first, the appropriate remedy pursuant to the 

terms of the plea agreement is that the State may argue for imprisonment. See State 

v. Crockett, 110 Nev. 838, 842-45, 877 P.2d 1077, 1078-81 (1994) (applying 

contract principles in analyzing a written plea agreement); Canfora v. Coast Hotels 

& Casinos, Inc., 121 Nev. 771, 776, 121 P.3d 599, 603 (2005) (“[W]hen a contract 

is clear on its face, it will be construed from the written language and enforced as 

written.”) (citations omitted). When, as here, the defendant is obviously to blame for 

the breach of the GPA, an evidentiary hearing to determine blameworthiness is 

unnecessary. Villalpando v. State, 107 Nev. 465, 468, 814 P.2d 78, 80 (1991). 

In this case, the State did not breach the GPA.1 The State was no longer 

required to not oppose probation when Leal failed to pay the restitution in full at or 

                                                 
1 When the State enters into a plea agreement, it “is held to ‘the most 

meticulous standards of both promise and performance’” with respect to both the 
terms and the spirit of the plea bargain. Van Buskirk v. State, 102 Nev. 241, 243, 720 
P.2d 1215, 1216 (1986) (quoting Kluttz v. Warden, 99 Nev. 681, 683-84, 669 P.2d 
244, 245 (1983)). “In practice, it is the criminal defendant, not the State, who actually 
controls whether the State will be allowed to argue for a particular sentence.” Sparks 

v. State, 121 Nev. 107, 113, 110 P.3d 486, 489 (2005). If the defendant claims the 
State improperly breached the plea agreement, the appropriate remedy would be 
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before his sentencing. In the GPA, Leal expressly agreed and understood that as a 

condition to the State not opposing probation, he had a duty to pay the restitution of 

seven hundred fifty-seven thousand four hundred twenty dollars ($757,420) in full 

at or before his sentencing. AA 88-89. Leal also agreed and understood that he and 

Garcia were jointly and severally responsible for paying the restitution. AA 89. Leal 

acknowledged these terms in the GPA and during the plea canvass. AA 88-99, 103-

12. Leal also twice acknowledged and agreed that if he did not pay the restitution in 

full at or before his sentencing, the State retained the right to argue for a term of 

imprisonment. AA 104-06. At the time set for sentencing, Leal and Garcia had not 

paid the restitution. AA 122-23. As such, Leal’s blatant and obvious breach of the 

GPA released the State from its obligation of not opposing probation. Thus, the State 

properly argued for a term of imprisonment in accordance with the terms of the GPA 

without any objection by Attorney Weiner or Leal. 

In Sparks, a case Leal attempts to distinguish, the defendant, while on 

probation for a theft offense, was arrested and charged with two counts of drug 

related offenses. Id. at 109, 110 P.3d at 487. At his initial appearance, the defendant 

agreed to waive his right to a preliminary hearing and agreed to a plea bargain where 

he would enter a plea of guilty to the reduced drug charge and the State would agree 

                                                 

specific performance of the agreement. Citti v. State, 107 Nev. 89, 92-93, 807 P.2d 
724, 727 (1991).  
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to make no recommendation at sentencing. Id., 110 P.3d at 487. The written plea 

agreement also contained a FTA clause that released the State from its promise to 

recommend or refrain from recommending a particular sentence if the defendant 

failed to appear for a scheduled sentencing or committed an additional criminal 

offense prior to sentencing. Id., 110 P.3d at 487. After the defendant failed to appear 

for his scheduled sentencing and was arrested on additional charges, the State 

asserted its right under the FTA clause and argued that the sentence imposed should 

run consecutive to the defendant’s sentence for the theft offense. Id., 110 P.3d at 

487. On appeal, the defendant in Sparks argued that 1) the FTA clause was not valid 

because it deviated from the standard form agreement set forth in NRS 174.063; 2) 

the FTA clause is void under Nevada law because it contravenes the court’s holdings 

in Gamble v. State and Villalpando v. State; 3) the FTA clause is void because it is 

an unconscionable contractual provision surreptitiously included in the agreement 

by the State without his consent; and 4) the FTA provision is unconscionable 

because it gives the State the unilateral right to withdraw.  Id. at 109-13, 110 P.3d at 

487-90. The Nevada Supreme Court concluded that the FTA clause in the plea 

agreement was lawful and enforceable. Id., 110 P.3d at 490. The Nevada Supreme 

Court also concluded that the State did not breach the plea agreement in arguing for 

consecutive sentences after the defendant violated the FTA clause and affirmed the 

judgment of conviction. Id., 110 P.3d at 490. 
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Like the defendant in Sparks, Leal is obviously to blame for breaching the 

GPA. At sentencing, Leal had not paid the restitution in full.2 AA 122. Because Leal 

agreed that he and Garcia were jointly and severally responsible for paying the 

restitution in full, Leal should have ensured that the restitution had been paid in full 

at or before his sentencing rather than “assume” Garcia had paid it. AA 89. As the 

terms of the GPA did not require the sale of the Henderson property to pay the 

restitution, Leal could have paid the restitution through any lawful means.3 AA 88-

99. Although Leal contends that he could not sell the Henderson property because

of the State’s Lis Pendens, this contention fails because Leal was still able to transfer 

title to himself and list it on the market six (6) days before his sentencing even with 

the Lis Pendens. AA 121-22. The Henderson property also had two liens from 

Republic Waste. AA 122-23. If Leal did not have the funds to pay the restitution in 

full without selling the Henderson property, the time to object to this specific term 

2 The GPA required payment in full not partial payment at or before sentencing. 
AA 88-89. Nonetheless, Leal’s contentions that he made “good faith efforts” to pay 
the restitution in full are belied by his own actions and statements at sentencing in 
addition to the victim impact statements of Segura, Palafox, and Plancarte. AA 128-
36. Leal waited six (6) days before his sentencing when he had four (4) months
between his initial arraignment and sentencing to transfer title and list the Henderson
property for sale to pay the restitution. AA 122.

3 Leal’s contention that the State misrepresented the worth of the Henderson 
property at sentencing to undermine Leal’s efforts to pay the restitution is misguided. 
The State had information, outside of the record, that appraised the Henderson property 
for significantly less than the listing price. 
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was before he signed the GPA and entered his guilty plea.4 Id. at 112, 110 P.3d at 

489 (“[W]e note that the proper time for [the defendant] to object to a particular term 

in the written plea agreement was prior to signing the agreement and entering his 

guilty plea in the district court.”). Leal and Attorney Weiner also did not object to 

the State’s recommendation of a term of imprisonment. Further, Leal acknowledged 

in the GPA and during the plea canvass that the district court determines the sentence 

within the limits prescribed by statute and is not obligated to accept any 

recommendation. AA 91, 108. In exercising that discretion, the district court actually 

sentenced Leal to imprisonment for a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) months 

with a minimum parole eligibility of seventy-two (72) months when the State argued 

for less. AA 120, 140-41. Thus, the Court, like in Sparks, should find that the State 

did not breach the GPA and affirm the judgment of conviction. 

Conversely, in Gamble, the defendant appealed the district court’s denial of 

his petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) after the prosecutor had not 

kept his promise in the plea bargain rendering his plea involuntary. Gamble, 95 Nev. 

at 905-06, 604 P.2d at 337. The defendant agreed to stipulate to the revocation of his 

probation and enter a plea of guilty to a new offense in exchange for the State 

                                                 
4 To the extent Leal’s arguments are construed as to mean the State made Leal’s 

performance impossible, the defense of impossibility does not apply to unforeseen 
contingencies that the promissor should have foreseen and provided for in the contract. 
See Nebaco, Inc. v. Riverview Realty Co., 87 Nev. 55, 58, 482 P.2d 305, 307 (1971). 
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agreeing not to file more charges and recommend that the sentences for his probation 

revocation and new offense run concurrently. Id., 604 P.2d at 337. The district court 

canvassed the defendant who entered a plea of guilty to the new offense. Id., 604 

P.2d at 337. A month later, the district court held a probation revocation hearing, 

revoked the defendant’s probation, and sentenced the defendant to a ten-year prison 

term. Id. at 337. A different public defender and prosecutor appeared at the probation 

revocation and neither made any reference to the plea negotiations. Id. at 337. At his 

sentencing hearing, the parties did not understand why the probation revocation 

hearing occurred and the district court continued the sentencing. Id., 604 P.2d at 337. 

A month later, at the continued sentencing hearing, the prosecutor represented that 

the defendant “refused” to stipulate to the revocation of his probation and 

recommended the maximum sentence on the new offense to run consecutive to the 

defendant’s sentence imposed as a result of his probation revocation. Id. at 337. The 

district court imposed a sentence based on the prosecution’s recommendation. Id. at 

337. On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court stated that “there is not the slightest 

indication that appellant was ever presented with a stipulation to revoke his 

probation by the prosecution, nor that one was requested by the prosecution of either 

of appellant’s defense counsel. Id., 604 P.2d at 337. The Nevada Supreme Court 

reversed and remanded to the district court for an evidentiary hearing to determine 

whether the breach of the plea bargain occurred because the defendant refused to 
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stipulate to the probation revocation or because of the prosecutions’ 

miscommunication. Id. at 909, 604 P.2d at 338. 

Similarly, in Villalpando, the defendant appealed his sentencing after the 

prosecution recommended a prison sentence rather than probation after the 

defendant failed to appear for his sentencing. 107 Nev. at 465-66, 814 P.2d at 78-9. 

On appeal, the Nevada Supreme determined that the defendant’s appearance at his 

sentencing became an implied condition of the plea agreement based on the judge’s 

warning that the defendant’s appearance at sentencing was a condition of the plea 

agreement. Id., 814 P.2d at 78-9. The Nevada Supreme Court applying Gamble 

determined that the defendant’s failure to appear at his sentencing caused the 

breakdown of the plea agreement and because the defendant was obviously to blame 

an evidentiary hearing to determine blameworthiness was unnecessary. Id. at 468, 

814 P.2d at 80. Due to the defendant’s blameworthiness, the Nevada Supreme Court 

did not permit the defendant to withdraw his plea. Id., 814 P.2d at 78-9. Instead, the 

Nevada Supreme Court found that if the defendant is to remain bound by his guilty 

plea, so too is the prosecution to remain bound by its promise to recommend 

probation. Id., 814 P.2d at 80. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded 

the case to the district court for specific performance. Id., 814 P.2d at 78-9. 

Unlike the defendant in Gamble, it is abundantly clear that Leal is to blame 

for the breach of the GPA because Leal showed up to his sentencing without having 
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paid the restitution in full, which Leal expressly agreed and understood that he had 

a duty pay in order to obtain the benefit of the bargain. AA 122. Thus, the district 

court did need to conduct an evidentiary hearing. Also, unlike in Gamble and 

Villalpando, where counsel failed to put in writing the stipulation to revoke 

probation and the requirement that the defendant appear at sentencing to receive the 

benefit of the plea negotiations, the GPA expressly and specifically advised Leal that 

if he showed up to his sentencing without having paid the restitution in full, the State 

retained the right to argue for a term of imprisonment. AA 88-99, 103-12. Leal 

acknowledged these terms during the plea canvass and in the GPA. AA 88-99, 103-

12. Accordingly, unlike the defendants in Gamble and Villalpando, the record 

reflects Leal knew, as a condition of his plea, that he had a joint and several 

responsibility to pay the restitution in full at or before his sentencing to obtain the 

benefit of the State not opposing probation. Thus, the Court, unlike in Gamble and 

Villalpando, should affirm the judgment of conviction. 

III. The District Court Correctly Proceeded with Sentencing Because No 

Conflict of Interest Existed, and Even if It Did, Leal Forever Waived It. 

Contrary to Leal’s assertions, the record does not clearly reflect that Attorney 

Weiner moved to withdraw as counsel of record for Leal. AA 124. According to the 

record, Attorney Weiner stated that Bar Counsel instructed him to withdraw and 

“[h]e did. [He] will make that motion” effectively indicating that he would file a 

motion to withdraw in the future. AA 124.  

STATE 00026



 22

 

Eighth Judicial District Court Rule 7.40 provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

(b) Counsel in any case may be changed only: 
 

(2) When no attorney has been retained to replace the attorney 
withdrawing, by order of the court, granted upon written motion, and 

 
(i) If the application is made by the attorney, the attorney must 
include in an affidavit the address, or last known address, at 
which the client may be served with notice of further proceedings 
taken in the case in the event the application for withdrawal is 
granted, and the telephone number, or last known telephone 
number, at which the client may be reached and the attorney must 
serve a copy of the application upon the client and all other 
parties to the action or their attorneys, or 
… 
 

(c) No application for withdrawal or substitution may be granted if a 

delay of the trial or of the hearing of any other matter in the case would 

result. 

 
EDCR 7.40. [Emphasis added]. 
 

Even assuming Attorney Weiner made an oral motion to withdraw during the bench 

conference, his request fails to comply with EDCR 7.40(b)(2). Thus, the district 

court did not err in proceeding with sentencing because Attorney Weiner failed to 

move to withdraw in accordance with EDCR 7.40(b)(2).  

Even if Attorney Weiner had moved to withdraw in accordance with EDCR 

7.40(b)(2), there was no conflict of interest to warrant withdrawal. The district 

court’s denial of a motion to withdraw as counsel is reviewed for an abuse of 

discretion. Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968, 102 P.3d 572, 576 (2004) (reviewing 

the district court’s denial of a motion for substitution of counsel for abuse of 
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discretion). In reviewing a denial of a motion to substitute counsel, the three factors 

considered by the Nevada Supreme Court are: (1) the extent of the conflict between 

the defendant and his or her counsel, (2) the timeliness of the motion and the extent 

to which it will result in inconvenience or delay, and (3) the adequacy of the court’s 

inquiry into the defendant’s complaints. Id., 102 P.3d at 576 (quoting United States 

v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 1998)).  

Here, the mere fact that Leal and Garcia did not pay the restitution prior to 

sentencing did not create a conflict of interest. At sentencing, Attorney Weiner 

argued that a conflict of interest arose between Garcia and Leal because they were 

supposed to be “working together” and now they are pointing at each other with her 

“saying this is his fault, he’s saying that’s her fault.” AA 124. In the GPA, Leal 

agreed to be jointly and severally liable for the restitution with Garcia. AA 89. 

“Under the common law, liability was joint and several where two or more 

tortfeasors caused injury through their combined or concurrent tortious 

conduct…Thus, any one of several tortfeasors whose comportment contributed to a 

plaintiff’s injuries could be tapped for the entire amount of damages.” Buck by Buck 

v. Greyhound Lines, Inc., 105 Nev. 756, 763, 783 P.2d 437, 441 (1989) (citing 

Prosser, Law of Torts, 5th Ed. (1984), p. 328). [Emphasis added]. The record also 

reflects that Leal never personally objected to Attorney Weiner’s continued 

representation. Accordingly, Leal agreed that he owed the entire amount of 
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restitution at or before his sentencing even if Garcia did not pay any of the restitution. 

Based on the foregoing, the district court did not abuse its discretion because (1) the 

record does not clearly reflect that Attorney Weiner moved to withdraw; (2) even if 

he did, it was at the time of the sentencing and no conflict of interest existed; and (3) 

the district court sufficiently inquired into the alleged conflict. Under the factors 

considered in Young, the Court should find the district court did not abuse its 

discretion and affirm the judgment of conviction. 

Even assuming a conflict of interest existed, Leal knowingly, intelligently, 

and voluntarily forever waived conflict-free representation prior to his sentencing. 

Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 1.7 prohibits lawyers from engaging in dual 

representation if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest or a 

significant risk that the dual representation will materially limit the lawyer’s ability 

to represent one or both clients. Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County 

of Clark, 123 Nev. 419, 430, 168 P.3d 703, 710 (2007). However, there is no per se 

rule against dual representation. Id. at 426, 168 P.3d at 708 (citing Holloway, 435 

U.S. at 482-83). Even if a concurrent conflict of interest exists, a lawyer may 

represent a client if each affected client gives informed consent in writing. Id., 168 

P.3d at 710 (citing RPC 1.7(b)(4)). If the defendant knowingly, intelligently, and 

voluntarily waives the right to conflict-free representation, the conflict of interest is 

STATE 00029



 25

 

forever waived and binding on the defendant throughout trial, on appeal, and in 

habeas proceedings. Id. at 428-29, 168 P.3d at 709-10.  

In Ryan, a non-indigent defendant filed a writ of mandamus after the district 

court denied her request for substitution of counsel with an attorney whose partner 

was representing her codefendant.  Id. at 422, 168 P.3d at 705. Both defendants were 

accused of murdering their roommate, stuffing her body in the trunk of their Jaguar, 

and setting the car on fire to cover up the alleged crimes. Id., 168 P.3d at 705. The 

Nevada Supreme Court concluded that the district court must honor a criminal 

defendant’s voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver of conflict-free 

representation so long as the conflicted representation will not interfere with the 

administration of justice. Id., 168 P.3d at 705. The Nevada Supreme Court also 

concluded that for a waiver of conflict-free representation to be effective, the 

defendant must specifically waive the right to a mistrial as a result of her attorney’s 

potential or actual conflict of interest depriving her of the right to effective assistance 

of counsel arising from the dual representation. Id., 168 P.3d at 705. The Nevada 

Supreme Court also concluded that before engaging in dual representation, the 

attorney must advise the criminal defendant of her right to consult with independent 

counsel to review the potential conflicts of interest posed by the dual representation 

and if so chooses not to do so, then the defendant must expressly waive her right to 

do so before the defendant’s waiver of conflict-free representation can be valid. Id., 
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168 P.3d at 705. The Nevada Supreme Court granted the defendant’s petition and 

issued a writ directing the district court to canvass both defendants to determine 

whether they knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive their right to conflict-

free representation. Id., 168 P.3d at 705. 

As indicated by the court in Ryan, Leal signed two conflict-of-interest waivers 

before his sentencing to show that he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily 

waived his right to conflict-free representation. AA 79-83; 100-102. In the second 

conflict-of-interest waiver, Leal expressly waived his right to a mistrial due to an 

actual or potential conflict of interest depriving him of the right to effective 

assistance of counsel arising from the dual representation as instructed by the court 

in Ryan. AA 100. Also, as instructed by the court in Ryan, the second conflict-of-

interest waiver provided that Leal’s attorney advised him of his right to consult with 

independent counsel to review the potential conflicts of interest posed by the dual 

representation and if he chose not to do so, then Leal expressly waived his right to 

do so. AA 100. Leal further acknowledged that the waiver of conflict was binding 

throughout trial, on appeal, and in habeas proceedings. AA 100. As the second 

conflict-of-interest waiver incorporated the language mandated by the Nevada 

Supreme Court in Ryan, any actual or potential conflict that arose at sentencing was 

forever waived beforehand. Thus, any actual or potential conflict that occurred after 

Leal’s initial arraignment but before his sentencing had been forever waived. 
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Accordingly, the Court should find that the conflict-of-interest waivers establish that 

Leal knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily forever waived his right to conflict-

free representation and affirm the judgment of conviction. 

Leal relies on Clark v. State, 108 Nev. 324, 831 P.2d 1374 (1992) to support 

his argument that the district court abused its discretion by denying Attorney 

Weiner’s alleged motion to withdraw due to a conflict of interest. However, Clark 

is factually and legally distinguishable from the instant case. In Clark, the defendant 

filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) alleging that his trial 

counsel deprived him of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. 

108 Nev. at 325, 831 P.2d at 1375. Trial counsel agreed to represent the defendant 

for $10,000.00 at his first-degree murder trial. Id., 831 P.2d at 1375. The defendant 

and trial counsel agreed that the fee would come from the proceeds of a personal 

injury settlement handled by trial counsel’s firm on behalf of the defendant. Id., 831 

P.2d at 1375. When an overlooked medical lien for $4,785.05 resulted in the lien 

holder filing a complaint against the defendant and the trial counsel’s firm, trial 

counsel filed a cross-claim against the defendant and obtained a default judgment in 

the amount of $5,600.00. Id., 831 P.2d at 1375. After the district court held a hearing 

to address trial counsel’s actions and the technical conflict of interest, the district 

court denied relief and found no resultant prejudice to the defendant. Id. at 326, 831 

P.2d at 1376. The Nevada Supreme Court conclusively presumed prejudice to the 

STATE 00032



 28

 

defendant under the specific facts of the case, and reversed the decision of the district 

court and vacated the defendant’s conviction. Id. at 327, 831 P.2d at 1377.  

Unlike the actual conflict between the defendant and trial counsel in Clark, 

the alleged conflict with Leal stemmed from Attorney Weiner’s representation of 

Leal and Garcia, between co-defendants, which makes the facts of this case more 

analogous to Ryan. Also, unlike the defendant in Clark, Leal signed two conflict-of-

interest waivers wherein he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his 

right to conflict-free representation. AA 79-83; 100-102. Further, unlike the 

defendant’s claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in Clark, Leal expressly 

waived his right to withdraw his guilty plea due to Attorney Weiner’s potential or 

actual conflict of interest deriving him of his right to effective assistance of counsel 

in the second conflict-of-interest waiver and acknowledged his understanding that 

the terms of the waiver would be binding throughout trial, on appeal, and in habeas 

proceedings. AA 100; See also Ryan, 123 Nev. at 710, 168 P.3d at 429 (“[T]he 

defendant cannot subsequently seek a mistrial arising out of the conflict that he 

waived and ‘cannot [subsequently] be heard to complain that the conflict he waived 

resulted in ineffective assistance of counsel.’”) (quoting Gomez v. Ahitow, 29 F.3d 

1128, 1135 (7th Cir. 1994)). The record reflects that Attorney Weiner argued on 

behalf of Leal at his sentencing despite the alleged conflict of interest. AA 124-28, 
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137-39. Thus, the Court should find this case legally and factually distinguishable 

from Clark and affirm the judgment of conviction. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court 

affirm the judgment of conviction. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 19th day of March, 2018. 

ADAM PAUL LAXALT 
Attorney General 
 
By: /s/Ashley Balducci     

Ashley Balducci (Bar No. 12687) 
Deputy Attorney General 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS AND RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 On September 30, 2016, the State filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court a complaint for 

forfeiture against, inter alia, property located at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson, NV 89002 (case 

number A-16-744347-C). Appellant’s Appendix (“AA”), at 2-10. The request for forfeiture was based 

on the fact that the home constituted the proceeds – or replacement of the proceeds – of fraudulent real 

estate transactions. Id. 

On November 29, 2016, the State initiated the present, related criminal proceedings by filing a 

criminal complaint in the Las Vegas Township Justice Court (case number 16F19220ABC). Id., at 15-

38. The complaint for forfeiture and the criminal complaint were both based on the same fraudulent real 

estate transactions. Id. Thus, under NRS 179.1173(2), the forfeiture proceedings were automatically 

stayed. On April 11, 2017, the criminal case was bound over to District Court. Id., at 14, 69-72, 79-80. 

On April 24, 2017, Defendant JACK LEAL and his codefendant/estranged wife, JESSICA 

GARCIA, pled guilty to the charge of Multiple Transactions Involving Fraud or Deceit in the Course of 

an Enterprise or Occupation, a category B felony, in violation of NRS 205.377, a crime punishable by a 

term of imprisonment not to exceed 20 years. Id., at 103-12. The charges stem from LEAL and GARCIA 

selling various parcels of real estate to various victims on the false representation that said parcels were 

not subject to any security interests. Id., at 97-99. LEAL and GARCIA fleeced their victims of $757,420. 

Id., at 88.  

At that same time the plea was being entered, and while being represented by attorney Jason 

Weiner, LEAL and GARCIA expressly and effectively waived any potential conflict of interest Weiner 

may have in his representation of them both. Id., at 100-12.  

 The terms of the guilty plea agreement provided, inter alia, that: 

6. Should I, JACK LEAL, pay restitution in full at or before the time I am sentenced in the 

present case, the State will not oppose the imposition of a term of probation not to exceed a term of five 

years, with a suspended 36- to-90 month term of imprisonment; 

7. Should I, JACK LEAL, fail to pay restitution in full at or before the time I am sentenced 

in the present case, the State will retain the right to argue for the imposition of a term of imprisonment. 
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Id., at 89. 

 Immediately following the entry of plea, the undersigned Deputy met with Weiner, LEAL, and 

GARCIA in the hallway outside of the courtroom where the plea was entered. At that time, the 

undersigned Deputy stressed the importance of quickly doing what needed to be done in order to get the 

restitution paid prior to sentencing – with special attention being paid to the sale of a home owned by 

LEAL and GARCIA (through a trust) that would likely satisfy the restitution requirement (the same home 

that is the subject of the above-mentioned forfeiture proceedings). As part of the guilty plea agreements, 

LEAL and GARCIA agreed to “execute and file in the Clark County Recorder’s Office a lien agreement 

and lien in favor of the State of Nevada, Office of the Attorney General, in the amount of $600,314.83 

against the home located at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson, Nevada 89002, assessor parcel 

number 179-33-710-056, legally described as MISSION HILLS EST AMD PLAT BOOK 17 PAGE 12, 

LOT 223 & LOT 223A, with the proceeds of the sale of said home to be applied to my restitution 

requirements,” in order to provide the State with assurances that any proceeds from the sale would, in 

fact, be applied toward the restitution obligations of LEAL and GARCIA. Id., at 89-90. 

 Nearly four months passed, and the undersigned Deputy heard nothing from LEAL, GARCIA, or 

Weiner until approximately one week prior to sentencing, at which point Weiner requested a continuance 

of the sentencing hearing so that his clients could sell the home at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue and pay 

restitution with the proceeds. The State rejected the request, noting that LEAL and GARCIA failed to 

even execute the lien required under the terms of their GPAs, let alone make any legitimate effort to sell 

the home.  

 Weiner made vague statements about unidentified issues holding up the sale. The undersigned 

Deputy informed Weiner that he was well aware of the issues his clients were having, including the 

following: 

1. LEAL had no intention of complying with the terms of the guilty plea agreement and made no 

legitimate effort to do so; 

2. In March of 2017, GARCIA was arrested in Florida on felony heroin and misdemeanor battery 

charges (In July of 2017, GARCIA entered a nolo contendre plea to the heroin charge, and the 

adjudication was withheld); 
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3. In June of 2017, GARCIA entered a guilty plea for another misdemeanor battery charge in a 

separate Florida case; and 

4. Soon after that, GARCIA, in yet another Florida case, was convicted on charges of battery and 

“contempt of court violate injunction protection domestic vio.” 

 On or about August 16, 2017 – the day before the sentencing hearing – Weiner informed the 

undersigned Deputy that LEAL had (finally) filed the lien required under the terms of the GPA. While 

there is no reason to doubt that Weiner sincerely believed that to be true, it was actually another of 

LEAL’s lies. In reality, according to a Deputy District Attorney representing the Recorder’s Office (who 

called the undersigned Deputy the day of, or day after, LEAL’s sentencing), the day prior to sentencing, 

LEAL attempted to file the lien; however, he did not have all of the necessary documentation, and an 

employee of the Recorder’s Office informed him that the lien filing was suspended. LEAL informed that 

same employee that he would not be correcting the filing because he was returning to Florida the 

following day.  

 On August 17, 2017, LEAL appeared for his sentencing hearing. At that hearing, LEAL proved 

himself to be a conman through and through. First, LEAL lied to this Court and stated that the property 

at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue was free of any liens (the exact type of misrepresentation that landed him 

in this mess in the first place). Id., at 122. Second, LEAL lied to this Court and stated that he properly 

filed a lien against that property and in favor of the State, as required by the terms of the plea agreement. 

Id. As explained above, at the time LEAL made that false statement to this Court, he was well aware that 

his attempted filing (which took place one day prior to sentencing) was suspended.  

Fortunately, this Court was not the latest victim of LEAL’s lies, as LEAL was sentenced to a 72- 

to 180-month term of imprisonment. Id., at 138. A day after the sentencing, the Recorder’s Office 

accepted documentation from the undersigned Deputy and lifted the suspension on the lien required under 

the terms of LEAL’s GPA.1 

/ / / 

                                                 

  1 Garcia failed to appear for sentencing. The Court issued a bench warrant for her arrest. Subsequently, 

Garcia was apprehended in Florida and transported to Clark County, Nevada. Her sentencing is presently 

scheduled for May 8, 2018. 
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Following his conviction, LEAL filed a frivolous appeal, arguing two issues: 

(1) “The District Court erred by permitting the state to breach the plea agreement without holding 

an evidentiary hearing under Gamble v. State, 95 Nev. 904 (1979), etc., to determine blame 

for the breach.” 

(2) “The District Court erred by denying Motion to Withdraw Counsel with an unwaivable 

conflict under Clark v. State, 108 Nev. 324 (1992).” 

LEAL now moves for bail pending appeal. Motion. 

ARGUMENT 

 “Bail may be allowed pending appeal or certiorari unless it appears that the appeal is frivolous or 

taken for delay.” NRS 178.488(1). When faced with a motion for bail pending appeal, the Court is to 

consider: 

(1) “whether the appeal is frivolous or taken for delay”; and  

(2) “whether the applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to the community.” 

Bergna v. State, 120 Nev. 869, 877 (2004). The Nevada Supreme Court has explained that “[t]he nature 

and quality of the evidence adduced at trial and the circumstances of the offense are highly relevant 

considerations in evaluating these factors.” Id. Additionally, “evaluation of these concerns may 

encompass a wide range of information, including the applicant’s prior criminal record, attempted 

escapes from confinement, community associations, and employment status.” Id.  

An applicant “who faces a substantial term of imprisonment will shoulder a heavy burden to 

demonstrate, not only that the appeal is not frivolous, nor taken for delay, but also that his or her release 

will not pose a risk of flight or danger to the community.” Id. Here, LEAL most certainly cannot satisfy 

that heavy burden. 

I. Factor no. 1 – whether the appeal is frivolous or taken for delay. 

LEAL’s appeal is clearly frivolous, as his two arguments are based on events that simply did not 

take place.  

With respect to LEAL’s first issue on appeal, contrary to LEAL’s contentions otherwise, the State 

clearly did not breach the term of the plea agreement. Under the terms of the plea agreement, should 
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LEAL fail to have restitution paid at the time of sentencing, the State would have the right to argue for 

imprisonment. That is exactly what happened.  

LEAL comically argues: “To both require the sale of a property to pay restitution and at the same 

time require that a lien by placed on the same property is akin to requiring a defendant to appear at a 

sentencing hearing while blockading them in their home.” Motion at 9:11-9:14. First, the terms of the 

guilty plea agreement did not require the sale of the property at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue. Second, 

LEAL’s suggestion that the State’s lien on the property prevented its sale is utterly absurd. LEAL did not 

even attempt to record the lien until the day after sentencing. Moreover, as explained above, the lien 

filing was suspended until after LEAL’s sentencing. Further, if anyone knows how to sell an encumbered 

property, it is LEAL; that is exactly why he is in the mess he presently finds himself. Thus, there is clearly 

no merit to LEAL’s suggestion that the lien requirement made it impossible for LEAL to sell the property 

prior to the date of his sentencing.2   

LEAL makes much of his supposed good faith efforts to pay restitution. Whether LEAL made 

any such good faith efforts is irrelevant. The terms of the guilty plea agreement require the payment of 

restitution, not good faith efforts to pay restitution. Through no fault of the State, LEAL failed to satisfy 

his restitution obligation. Thus, the State was free argue for a term of imprisonment. 

LEAL’s second appellate argument – that the District Court erred in denying his trial court 

attorney’s motion to withdraw as counsel – is equally unavailing. LEAL specifically argues that an 

unwaivable conflict existed under NRCP 1.7(b)(3) because LEAL and GARCIA “had been required to 

pay restitution, but it was not paid due to [GARCIA’s] malfeasance and domestic violence restraining 

order against her.” Motion at 11:11-11:13. On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court will be reviewing any 

such denial for an abuse of discretion. Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968 (2004). 

As a preliminary matter, it must be noted that LEAL’s trial attorney did not file a written motion 

to withdraw as trial counsel, as required under EDCR 7.40. Additionally, any motion made the day of 

sentencing would be barred under EDCR 7.40(c), which provides: “No application for withdrawal or 

                                                 
2 Even if LEAL had filed the lien in a timely manner, it certainly would have made no impact upon any 

sale of the property. The lien was in the amount of $600,314.83. If the property is truly worth in excess 

of a million dollars as LEAL contends, there would be no reason for the lien to have any effect whatsoever 

on the buyer, as the lien would be paid off in its entirety when any such sale would be completed.  
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substitution may be granted if a delay of the trial or of the hearing of any other matter in the case would 

result.” Moreover, even if it is determined that trial counsel properly moved to withdraw, any such motion 

was properly denied on the merits.  

 The failure of LEAL and GARCIA to pay restitution did not create any conflict, let alone an 

unwaivable one. They were both responsible for payment of the restitution, regardless of whether they 

were willing and able to work together to get it paid. No amount of excuses would have relieved LEAL 

of that obligation. As explained above, the State did not prevent LEAL from repaying his victims. And 

it makes no difference whether GARCIA prevented him from doing so; even if we are to assume (for the 

sake of argument) that fact to be true, the terms of the guilty plea agreement do not provide LEAL with 

any relief on that basis.  

 LEAL’s trial attorney could have jumped up and down, yelling and screaming about how 

GARCIA supposedly wronged LEAL. It would have been all for naught, as any such claim affords LEAL 

no relief from his obligations.  

 Finally, even if a conflict existed, LEAL knowingly and effectively waived it in conformance 

with the requirements established in Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark, 123 

Nev. 419 (2007).3 AA, at 100-02. LEAL ignores the clearly applicable opinion of Ryan and instead relies 

upon Clark v. State, 108 Nev. 324 (1992) – a case that has absolutely nothing to do with dual 

                                                 
3 In Ryan, the Nevada Supreme Court explained, in pertinent part: 

 

[W]hen a non-indigent criminal defendant’s choice of counsel results in dual or multiple 

representation of clients with potentially conflicting interests, the defendant may waive 

the right to conflict-free counsel. An attorney or firm attempting to engage in dual or 

multiple representation of two or more criminal defendants must advise the defendants of 

their right to seek independent counsel to advise them on the potential conflict of interest. 

If the defendants choose not to seek the advice of independent counsel, they must 

expressly waive their right to do so, or their waiver of conflict-free representation will be 

ineffective. When a defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the right 

to conflict-free representation, the district court must accept the waiver. Once the district 

court accepts the waiver, the defendant cannot subsequently seek a mistrial arising 

out of the conflict he waived and cannot subsequently claim that the conflict he 

waived resulted in ineffective assistance of counsel. 

 

123 Nev., at 430-31 (emphasis added). LEAL’s waiver satisfies these requirements. AA, at 100-02. 
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representation of codefendants – in support of his claim that this Court erred in denying his trial attorney’s 

supposed motion to withdraw. 

  
II. Factor no. 2 – whether the applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to the 

community. 
 

As noted above, in determining whether applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to 

the community, the Court may consider a number of factors, including: 

(A) The circumstances of the offense; 

(B) The applicant’s criminal history; 

(C) The applicant’s community associations; and 

(D) The applicant’s employment status. 

Here, evaluation of these factors clearly supports the conclusion that LEAL’s release would pose a serious 

risk of both flight and danger to the community. 

A. The circumstances of the offense.  

In the present case, LEAL stole a total of $757,4204 from eleven victims. In his Motion, LEAL 

contends that he “essentially sold the properties as is and did not tell [the victims] that they were 

encumbered, as opposed to misrepresenting them as unencumbered.” Motion 4:14-4:15. That is a flat out 

lie. LEAL, knowing that these properties were encumbered, sold these properties while knowingly and 

intentionally – and in some cases personally – falsely telling the victims that these properties were free 

and clear of any security interests.  

In doing so, LEAL left his victims’ finances and lives in ruins. He wrecked retirement plans. He 

wiped out a grandchild’s college savings. LEAL’s victims continue to suffer as a result of his greed.  

Now, LEAL wants to reenter society and continue his life as if he did no wrong, all while his 

victims try to scrap their lives back together. The filing of his frivolous appeal does not undue all of the 

damage LEAL has caused while running his criminal enterprise. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

                                                 
4 In his motion, LEAL incorrectly contends that the restitution total is $694,420.  
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B. The applicant’s criminal history.  

LEAL is a conman. In 2008, in Berwyn, Illinois, LEAL was convicted of felony Theft by 

Deception. A week later, in Lyons, Illinois, LEAL again was convicted of felony Theft by Deception. He 

finds himself back in the criminal justice system in the present matter as a result of his fraudulent conduct. 

In other words, LEAL is a habitually fraudulent felon within the meaning of the term set forth in NRS 

207.014. LEAL has two misdemeanor convictions out of Illinois for the crime of Resist Peace Officer 

(2003 and 2006). Given this history, there is no reason to believe that, if released from custody, LEAL 

would begin to abide by the law.  

C. The applicant’s community associations. 

In his Motion, LEAL states: “If permitted by the Court, Applicant would testify that he moved to 

Clark County in 2013 and has lived here since.” If he so testified, he would be committing perjury. 

According to his PSI, LEAL’s address is in Apopka, Florida. Additionally, as explained above, after 

LEAL was informed that he would have to return to the Clark County Recorder’s Office to lift the 

suspension on his lien filing, LEAL stated that he was returning to Florida the following day.  

To the extent that LEAL has resided in Nevada, his community associations can only be described 

as deplorable. He ran his criminal enterprise in Nevada with his coconspirator/wife, GARCIA, who has 

an impressive rap sheet of her own. Also associated with LEAL’s criminal enterprise was Jacory 

Williams, an upstanding individual who (at last check) has an active warrant issued out of California for 

charges stemming from him pimping out his underage niece. Williams was also previously convicted for 

making/passing a false check.  

Aside from directing his criminal enterprise here in Nevada, LEAL’s connections to Nevada 

appear to be tenuous, at best. In a phone call made from CCDC after LEAL was sentenced, LEAL directed 

an associate to retrieve a vehicle LEAL parked near the courthouse – along with $25,000 cash LEAL left 

in the car. Combining that fact with the fact that LEAL had already expressed that he would be returning 

to Florida after his sentencing, it is clear that there is a high risk LEAL would flee Nevada if given the 

opportunity.  

D. The applicant’s employment status. 
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Aside from running a criminal enterprise, it appears that LEAL has no ability and/or willingness 

to maintain gainful employment.  

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Defendant’s 

Motion for Bail Pending Appeal.  

Dated this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

 

SUBMITTED BY:  

       ADAM PAUL LAXALT 

       Attorney General 

By: /s/ Michael C. Kovac                   
       MICHAEL C. KOVAC (Bar No. 11177) 
       Chief Deputy Attorney General 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Office of the Attorney General, State of Nevada, and that 

on April 23, 2018, I filed the foregoing document via this Court’s electronic filing system. Parties that 

are registered with this Court’s EFS will be served electronically. The following parties are not registered 

and therefore, a prepaid postage copy of this document has been placed in the U.S. mail. 

 

Craig Muller, Esq. 

600 South Eighth Street 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

Attorney for Jack Leal 

 

 

 

/s/ A. Reber     

A. Reber, an employee of  

the office of the Nevada Attorney General  
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RPLY 
JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 13876 
The Gersten Law Firm PLLC 
9680 W Tropicana Avenue # 120 
Las Vegas, NV  89147 
Telephone (702) 857-8777 
joe@thegerstenlawfirm.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JACK LEAL, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

JERRY HOWELL, Warden, Southern 
Desert Correctional Center 

Respondent. 

Case No.: C-17-322664-2 
Dept. No.: XVII 

Evidentiary Hearing Requested 
(Not a Death Penalty Case) 

AMENDED REPLY TO STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT 
OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

COMES NOW, the Petitioner, JACK LEAL, by and through his attorney, 

JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ., of THE GERSTEN LAW FIRM PLLC, and 

hereby submits this REPLY TO STATE’S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR 

WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION).  This Reply is made 

and based upon the pleadings attached hereto, the papers and pleadings on file 

herein, together with arguments of counsel adduced at the time of hearing 

on this matter. 

/// 

/// 

Case Number: C-17-322664-2

Electronically Filed
5/3/2019 11:16 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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/// 

DATED this 3rd day of May 2019. 

By_________________________ 
JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 13876 
9680 W Tropicana Avenue # 120 
Las Vegas, NV  89147 
Telephone (702) 857-8777 
joe@thegerstenlawfirm.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 

ARGUMENT AND LAW 

A. MR. LEAL’S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ARE INVALID UNDER
THE 6TH AND 14TH FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT
GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION AND
UNDER THE LAW OF ARTICLE 1 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION
BECAUSE THE ORIGINAL INFORMATION FAILED TO PUT THE
PETITIONER ON NOTICE OF THE CHARGES.

As previously stated, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under

the 6th and 14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of due process 

and equal protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada constitution 

because the original indictment failed to put the petitioner on notice of the 

charges.  See Information, attached hereto as Exhibit A.  Contrary to the State’s 

Opposition, Mr. Leal pled to a charge of Multiple Transactions Involving Fraud 

or Deceit in the Course of an Enterprise and Occupation.  Id.  This was the 

charge in the information.  Id.  

As also previously noted, NRS 173.075, provides, in part: “The indictment 

or information ... must be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the 

essential facts constituting the offense charged.”  NRS 173.075.  An information, 

STATE 00183
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standing alone, must contain: (1) each and every element of the crime charged 

and (2) the facts showing how the defendant allegedly committed each element 

of the crime charged. State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161 (1998); see also United 

States v. Hooker, 841 F.2d 1225, 1230 (4th Cir.1988).  Simply put, the 

Information in this case does not contain each and every element of the crime 

charged and the facts showing how the defendant allegedly committed each 

element of the crime charged.  Id.  The Information lumps Leal and Garcia 

together, making it “very difficult to decipher who is alleged to have done what.”  

State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161 (1998). 

Moreover, the count is defective. Again, NRS 205.377, requires two or 

more transactions.  That was not the case here.  Again, this Court should 

conclude that Count I is not clear, definite, and concise as it does not clearly 

specify which portion of NRS 205.377 the respondent conspired to violate.  As 

well, it does not specify which respondent made which false or untrue 

statements or material omissions to which victims.  Id. 

The States’ reliance on NRS 34.810 is similarly misplaced.  NRS 34.810 

allows dismissal based on whether a “petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of 

guilty or guilty but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation 

that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly entered or that the plea was 

entered without effective assistance of counsel.”  Id. However, that is exactly 

what Mr. Leal is alleging here.  By not having an Information that adequately 
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delineates each and every element of the crime charged and the facts showing 

how the defendant allegedly committed each element of the crime charged, Mr. 

Leal’s plea was clearly involuntarily or unknowingly entered into and that the 

plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.  Id. 

As a result, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th 

and 14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of due process and equal 

protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada constitution because the 

original indictment failed to put the petitioner on notice of the charges and he 

should be released and the charges dismissed.be dismissed. 

B. MR. LEAL’S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ARE INVALID UNDER 
THE 6TH AND 14TH FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT 
GUARANTEES OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION AND 
UNDER THE LAW OF ARTICLE 1 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION 
BECAUSE PRIOR COUNSEL’S PERFORMANCE FELL BELOW AN 
OBJECTIVE STANDARD OF REASONABLENESS AS IS MANDATED 
BY STRICKLAND, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. CT. 2052 (1984). 

Again, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th and 

14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of Due Process and Equal 

Protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution because 

prior counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as 

is mandated by Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). 

In this case, Mr. Leal’s counsel made a series of errors which fell below 

minimum standards of representation, undermined confidence in the trial 

outcome, and deprived Mr. Leal of fundamentally fair proceedings. 
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1. PETITIONER’S CRIMINAL COUNSEL’S ASSISTANCE WAS INEFFECTIVE,
BECAUSE PRIOR COUNSEL’S PERFORMANCE FELL BELOW AN OBJECTIVE
STANDARD OF REASONABLENESS AS IS MANDATED BY STRICKLAND, BY
FAILING TO OBTAIN A MEANINGFUL CONFLICT WAIVER.

Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel’s assistance was ineffective, because prior 

counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as is 

mandated by Strickland, by failing to obtain a meaningful conflict waiver.  

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984).  A review of the 

documents in this matter bear this out.  The Information was dated April 24, 

2017.  See Exhibit 8, State’s Opposition.  The Guilty Plea Agreement was dated 

by Mr. Leal on April 24, 2017.  Id.  The purported conflict waiver was dated 

April 20, 2017. See Exhibit 6, State’s Opposition.  However, Defense Counsel 

appeared in the underlying Justice Court case for both parties on December 27, 

2016.  See Leal ROA, attached hereto as Exhibit B and Garcia ROA attached 

hereto as Exhibit D. It is difficult to believe that this Court would consider 

that waiver to be timely and/or knowingly that Defense Counsel was 

representing both Defendants for a period of four (4) months without a 

waiver and consider effective assistance. 

As noted previously, in this case, Mr. Leal was not advised of his right to 

consult with independent counsel nor advised on the potential conflict of interest 

and the consequences of waiving the right to conflict-free representation in any 

meaningful way.  Repeatedly, Criminal Counsel charged ahead representing 

Garcia, with little or no regard to Mr. Leal.  This can be seen with clarity in the 
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disparity of punishments negotiated, i.e., a gross misdemeanor for the co-

defendant and a felony for Mr. Leal. 

Thus, Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel’s assistance was ineffective, for 

failing to obtain a conflict waiver in a timely fashion, and delivering the 

Petitioner up to the State, while protecting the co-defendant. 

As a result, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th 

and 14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of Due Process and 

Equal Protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution 

because prior counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness as is mandated by Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 

(1984), and he should be released and the charges dismissed. 

2. PETITIONER’S CRIMINAL COUNSEL’S ASSISTANCE WAS INEFFECTIVE,
BECAUSE PRIOR COUNSEL’S PERFORMANCE FELL BELOW AN OBJECTIVE
STANDARD OF REASONABLENESS AS IS MANDATED BY STRICKLAND, BY
COERCING PETITIONER INTO ENTERING A PLEA.

Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel’s assistance was ineffective, because prior 

counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as is 

mandated by Strickland, by coercing Petitioner into entering a plea. 466 U.S. 

668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984).  Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel, in league with 

Petitioner’s co-defendant, coerced Petitioner into pleading guilty.  It was well 

known throughout this case, that the co-defendant, who was represented by the 

same attorney that represented Petitioner, without a viable conflict waiver in-
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place, visited domestic violence upon the Petitioner.  Thus, we have a situation 

where counsel knows his client is literally beating his other client, and yet 

continues to represent both. 

Now the State is trying to say there is no evidence of this.  Yet all one has 

to do is review the State’s OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR BAIL 

PENDING APPEAL, previously filed in this case to note that the State themselves 

identified multiple instances of domestic violence being visited by Defendant Garcia as 

against Mr. Leal.  See State’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion For Bail Pending Appeal, 

attached hereto as Exhibit C, pp 3-4, lns 21 – 4.  Thus, it is quite disingenuous of the State to 

claim a lack of evidence, when they themselves have tried to use this same evidence as a 

sword in prior pleadings. 

Furthermore, Mr. Leal attaches the online docket sheets for Defendant 

Garcia’s Florida domestic cases, demonstrating a pattern of visiting domestic 

violence upon Mr. Leal.  See Garcia FL Records attached hereto as Exhibit E.  

As Mr. Weiner, Petitioner’s criminal counsel also represented Garcia, it 

strains credulity that the State would now claim that Weiner had no knowledge of 

this. 

All the while this was happening without any type of waiver.  Again, 

clearly, clearly this is in violation of Strickland.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 

U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); see also Machibroda v. United States, 368 U.S. 

487 (1962);  Walker v. Johnston, 312 U. S. 275 (1945); Waley v. Johnston, 316 U. 

S. 101 (1942); Shelton v. United States, 356 U. S. 26 (1958), reversing 246 F.2d 

571 (1957) (A guilty plea, if induced by promises or threats which deprive it of 
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the character of a voluntary act, is void. A conviction based upon such a plea is 

open to collateral attack.). 

Thus, Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel’s assistance was ineffective, for 

coercing Petitioner, while protecting the co-defendant. 

As a result, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th 

and 14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of Due Process and 

Equal Protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution 

because prior counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness as is mandated by Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 

(1984), and he should be released and the charges dismissed. 

3. PETITIONER’S CRIMINAL COUNSEL’S ASSISTANCE WAS INEFFECTIVE,
BECAUSE PRIOR COUNSEL’S PERFORMANCE FELL BELOW AN OBJECTIVE
STANDARD OF REASONABLENESS AS IS MANDATED BY STRICKLAND, BY NOT
INFORMING THE COURT OF DEFENDANT’S JOINT PLEA/PACKAGE DEAL.

Petitioner’s Criminal Counsel’s assistance was ineffective, because prior 

counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as is 

mandated by Strickland, by not informing the Court of Defendant’s joint 

plea/package deal allowing the coercion of the Defendant to continue. 

Mr. Leal pled along with his co-defendant pursuant to a “package deal” 

plea agreement. Under such agreements, several confederates plead together, 

and the government gives them a volume discount-a better deal than each could 

have gotten separately. Consistent with the package nature of the agreement, 

defendants' fates are often bound together: If one defendant backs out, the deal's 
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off for everybody. This may well place additional pressure on each of the 

participants to go along with the deal despite misgivings they might have.  Mr. 

Leal had such doubts but was being coerced and battered by his co-defendant 

and ignored by his counsel.   

It appears during the canvass of Mr. Leal, the prosecutor apparently 

failed to alert the district judge to the fact the agreement was a package deal.  

As a result, The District Court accepted Leal’s assurance that the guilty plea 

was voluntary and entered it accordingly.  

This is problematic.  It appears the District Court had no reason to believe 

that Leal had entered a package deal. See, e.g., United States v. Daniels, 821 

F.2d 76, 80 (1st Cir.1987).  As a result, it appears the court made no inquiry into 

whether the codefendants or Weiner pressured Leal to go along.  While package 

deal plea agreements are not per se impermissible, they pose an additional risk 

of coercion not present when the defendant is dealing with the government 

alone. See United States v. Wheat, 813 F.2d 1399, 1405 (9th Cir.1987), aff'd, 486 

U.S. 153, 108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988); United States v. Castello, 724 

F.2d 813, 814-15 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1254, 104 S.Ct. 3540, 82 

L.Ed.2d 844 (1984). Quite possibly, one defendant will be happier with the 

package deal than his codefendant(s); looking out for his own best interests, the 

lucky one may try to force his codefendant(s) into going along with the deal. The 

Supreme Court has therefore observed that tying defendants' plea decisions 
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together “might pose a greater danger of inducing a false guilty plea by skewing 

the assessment of the risks a defendant must consider.” Bordenkircher v. 

Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 364 n. 8, 98 S.Ct. 663, 668 n. 8, 54 L.Ed.2d 604 

(1978) (dictum). The 9th Circuit in turn, has recognized that “the trial court 

should make a more careful examination of the voluntariness of a plea when [it 

might have been] induced by ... threats or promises” from a third 

party. Castello, 724 F.2d at 815. They have made it clear that prosecutors must 

alert the district court to the fact that codefendants are entering a package deal.  

United States v. Caro, 997 F.2d 657 (1993). 

In this case, because the District Court was not aware of the package 

nature of the deal, its voluntariness inquiry was not the “more careful 

examination” of voluntariness that precedents require when a plea bargain is 

conditioned on the cooperation of more than one defendant. Castello, 724 F.2d at 

815. Whether a plea is voluntary and intelligent is the touchstone for

determining whether substantial rights have been violated in the acceptance of a 

guilty plea. Carter v. McCarthy, 806 F.2d 1373, 1375 (9th Cir.1986), cert. 

denied, 484 U.S. 870, 108 S.Ct. 198, 98 L.Ed.2d 149 (1987). 

Here, as in Caro, the failure to investigate whether codefendant or Weiner 

pressured Leal into signing on to the agreement could well have affected his 

decision to enter the plea. United States v. Caro, 997 F.2d 657 (1993).  

Voluntariness is therefore called into question, and it cannot be shown that the 
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error was harmless. Id.  As in Caro, this matter should have a “full hearing on 

[Leal's] motion.” United States v. Caro, 997 F.2d 657 (1993). Castello, 724 F.2d 

at 815. Specifically, the court should determine whether Leal entered his plea 

because of threats or pressures from his codefendant.  

As a result, Mr. Leal’s conviction and sentence are invalid under the 6th 

and 14th federal constitutional amendment guarantees of Due Process and 

Equal Protection and under the law of Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution 

because prior counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness as is mandated by Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 

(1984), and he should be released and the charges dismissed. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner prays that this Court grant Petitioner relief to 

which Petitioner may be entitled in this proceeding. 

DATED this 3rd day of May 2019. 

By_________________________ 
JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 13876 
9680 W Tropicana Avenue # 120 
Las Vegas, NV  89147 
Telephone (702) 857-8777 
joe@thegerstenlawfirm.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

I, Joseph Gersten, Esq., hereby certify, pursuant to N.R.C.P. 5(b), that on 

this 3rd day of the month of May of the year 2019, I mailed a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 

addressed to: 

JERRY HOWELL 
Warden, Southern Desert Correctional Center 
20825 Cold Creek Road 
PO Box 208 
Indian Springs, NV 89070-0208  

STEVEN WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
200 Lewis Ave 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

AARON FORD 
Nevada Attorney General 
100 North Carson Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89701 

By_____________________________ 
An Employee of the Gersten Law Firm PLLC 
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C��� N�. 16F19220B

State of Nevada vs. LEAL, JACK §
 §
 §
 §
 §
 

Case Type: Felony
Date Filed: 11/29/2016

Location: JC Department 7

R������ C��� I����������

Related Cases
16F19220A (Multi-Defendant Case)
16F19220C (Multi-Defendant Case)

P���� I����������

Lead Attorneys
Defendant LEAL, JACK Jason G. Weiner, ESQ

   Retained
 702-202-0500(W)

 

State of
Nevada

State of Nevada

C����� I����������

Charges: LEAL, JACK Statute Level Date
1.  Racketeering [53190] 207.400 Felony 03/01/2015
2.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 06/01/2015
3.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/20/2015
4.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
5.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
6.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/01/2015
7.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
8.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/21/2015
9.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/05/2015
10.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 04/13/2016

11.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/28/2015

12.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/09/2015

13.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 04/16/2015

14.
 

Fraud/deceit in course of enterprise/occup [55110] 205.377 Felony 03/01/2015

E����� � O����� �� ��� C����

   DISPOSITIONS
04/11/2017  Disposition (Judicial Officer: Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

 1. Racketeering [53190]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

2. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

3. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

4. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

5. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

6. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

7. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

8. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

9. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

10. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

11. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

12. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

STATE 00199



13. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

14. Fraud/deceit in course of enterprise/occup [55110]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

   
   OTHER EVENTS AND HEARINGS
11/28/2016  Multi-Defendant Case
11/28/2016  CTRACK Track Assignment JC07
11/29/2016  Criminal Complaint
11/29/2016  Summons Issued
11/29/2016  Request for Summons
12/14/2016  Summons Returned

Not deliverable as addressed; Unable to forward.
12/19/2016  Notice of Confirmation of Counsel
12/27/2016

  
Initial Appearance  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officers Pro Tempore, Judge, Hua, Jeannie)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

12/27/2016  Counsel Confirms as Attorney of Record
J. Weiner, Esq

12/27/2016  Amended Criminal Complaint
Filed in open court

12/27/2016  Initial Appearance Completed
Defense Advised of Charges on Criminal Complaint, Waives Reading of Criminal Complaint

12/27/2016  Motion to Continue - Defense
for negotiations - Motion granted

12/27/2016  Minute Order - Department 07
02/07/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

02/07/2017  Motion to Continue - Defense
for negotiations - Motion granted

02/07/2017  Continued For Negotiations
02/07/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
03/07/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

03/07/2017  Continued by Stipulation of Counsel
03/07/2017  Stipulation

filed in open court
03/07/2017  Continued For Negotiations
03/07/2017  Notify

Attorney General/clm via email
03/07/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/04/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

04/04/2017  Motion to Continue - Defense
to file a corrected Waiver - motion granted

04/04/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/11/2017

  
Status Check  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Bound Over

04/11/2017  Waiver
of Unconditional Bindover filed in open court

04/11/2017
  

Unconditional Bind Over to District Court
Defendant unconditionally waives right to Preliminary Hearing. Defendant Bound Over to District Court as Charged. Defendant to Appear in the
Lower Level Arraignment Courtroom A.

04/11/2017  Case Closed - Bound Over
04/11/2017  District Court Appearance Date Set

Apr 20 2017 10:00AM: No bail posted
04/11/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/11/2017  Certificate, Bindover and Order to Appear
04/11/2017  Amended Certificate, Bind Over and Order to Appear

STATE 00200
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OPPM 
ADAM PAUL LAXALT 
  Attorney General 
Michael C. Kovac (Bar No. 11177) 
  Chief Deputy Attorney General 
State of Nevada 
Office of the Attorney General 
555 E. Washington Ave., Ste. 3900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-1068 
P: (702) 486-3420 
F: (702) 486-0660 
mkovac@ag.nv.gov 
Attorneys for the State of Nevada 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
JACK LEAL, 
 

Defendant. 

Case No.:   C-17-322664-2 
Dept. No.:  XVII 
 
Hearing Date: April 26, 2018 
Hearing Time: 8:30 AM 

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR BAIL PENDING APPEAL  

ADAM PAUL LAXALT, Attorney General for the State of Nevada, through Chief Deputy 

Attorney General, Michael C. Kovac, hereby submits the State’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for 

Bail Pending Appeal.  This opposition is made and based upon the pleadings on file, the following 

memorandum of points and authorities, and any oral arguments the Court may allow. 

Dated this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

SUBMITTED BY:  

       ADAM PAUL LAXALT 

       Attorney General 

By: /s/ Michael C. Kovac                   

       MICHAEL C. KOVAC (Bar No. 11177) 

       Chief Deputy Attorney General 

 

 

Case Number: C-17-322664-2

Electronically Filed
4/23/2018 10:17 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

STATE 00202



 

Page 2 of 11 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTS AND RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 On September 30, 2016, the State filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court a complaint for 

forfeiture against, inter alia, property located at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson, NV 89002 (case 

number A-16-744347-C). Appellant’s Appendix (“AA”), at 2-10. The request for forfeiture was based 

on the fact that the home constituted the proceeds – or replacement of the proceeds – of fraudulent real 

estate transactions. Id. 

On November 29, 2016, the State initiated the present, related criminal proceedings by filing a 

criminal complaint in the Las Vegas Township Justice Court (case number 16F19220ABC). Id., at 15-

38. The complaint for forfeiture and the criminal complaint were both based on the same fraudulent real 

estate transactions. Id. Thus, under NRS 179.1173(2), the forfeiture proceedings were automatically 

stayed. On April 11, 2017, the criminal case was bound over to District Court. Id., at 14, 69-72, 79-80. 

On April 24, 2017, Defendant JACK LEAL and his codefendant/estranged wife, JESSICA 

GARCIA, pled guilty to the charge of Multiple Transactions Involving Fraud or Deceit in the Course of 

an Enterprise or Occupation, a category B felony, in violation of NRS 205.377, a crime punishable by a 

term of imprisonment not to exceed 20 years. Id., at 103-12. The charges stem from LEAL and GARCIA 

selling various parcels of real estate to various victims on the false representation that said parcels were 

not subject to any security interests. Id., at 97-99. LEAL and GARCIA fleeced their victims of $757,420. 

Id., at 88.  

At that same time the plea was being entered, and while being represented by attorney Jason 

Weiner, LEAL and GARCIA expressly and effectively waived any potential conflict of interest Weiner 

may have in his representation of them both. Id., at 100-12.  

 The terms of the guilty plea agreement provided, inter alia, that: 

6. Should I, JACK LEAL, pay restitution in full at or before the time I am sentenced in the 

present case, the State will not oppose the imposition of a term of probation not to exceed a term of five 

years, with a suspended 36- to-90 month term of imprisonment; 

7. Should I, JACK LEAL, fail to pay restitution in full at or before the time I am sentenced 

in the present case, the State will retain the right to argue for the imposition of a term of imprisonment. 

STATE 00203
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Id., at 89. 

 Immediately following the entry of plea, the undersigned Deputy met with Weiner, LEAL, and 

GARCIA in the hallway outside of the courtroom where the plea was entered. At that time, the 

undersigned Deputy stressed the importance of quickly doing what needed to be done in order to get the 

restitution paid prior to sentencing – with special attention being paid to the sale of a home owned by 

LEAL and GARCIA (through a trust) that would likely satisfy the restitution requirement (the same home 

that is the subject of the above-mentioned forfeiture proceedings). As part of the guilty plea agreements, 

LEAL and GARCIA agreed to “execute and file in the Clark County Recorder’s Office a lien agreement 

and lien in favor of the State of Nevada, Office of the Attorney General, in the amount of $600,314.83 

against the home located at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue, Henderson, Nevada 89002, assessor parcel 

number 179-33-710-056, legally described as MISSION HILLS EST AMD PLAT BOOK 17 PAGE 12, 

LOT 223 & LOT 223A, with the proceeds of the sale of said home to be applied to my restitution 

requirements,” in order to provide the State with assurances that any proceeds from the sale would, in 

fact, be applied toward the restitution obligations of LEAL and GARCIA. Id., at 89-90. 

 Nearly four months passed, and the undersigned Deputy heard nothing from LEAL, GARCIA, or 

Weiner until approximately one week prior to sentencing, at which point Weiner requested a continuance 

of the sentencing hearing so that his clients could sell the home at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue and pay 

restitution with the proceeds. The State rejected the request, noting that LEAL and GARCIA failed to 

even execute the lien required under the terms of their GPAs, let alone make any legitimate effort to sell 

the home.  

 Weiner made vague statements about unidentified issues holding up the sale. The undersigned 

Deputy informed Weiner that he was well aware of the issues his clients were having, including the 

following: 

1. LEAL had no intention of complying with the terms of the guilty plea agreement and made no 

legitimate effort to do so; 

2. In March of 2017, GARCIA was arrested in Florida on felony heroin and misdemeanor battery 

charges (In July of 2017, GARCIA entered a nolo contendre plea to the heroin charge, and the 

adjudication was withheld); 
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3. In June of 2017, GARCIA entered a guilty plea for another misdemeanor battery charge in a 

separate Florida case; and 

4. Soon after that, GARCIA, in yet another Florida case, was convicted on charges of battery and 

“contempt of court violate injunction protection domestic vio.” 

 On or about August 16, 2017 – the day before the sentencing hearing – Weiner informed the 

undersigned Deputy that LEAL had (finally) filed the lien required under the terms of the GPA. While 

there is no reason to doubt that Weiner sincerely believed that to be true, it was actually another of 

LEAL’s lies. In reality, according to a Deputy District Attorney representing the Recorder’s Office (who 

called the undersigned Deputy the day of, or day after, LEAL’s sentencing), the day prior to sentencing, 

LEAL attempted to file the lien; however, he did not have all of the necessary documentation, and an 

employee of the Recorder’s Office informed him that the lien filing was suspended. LEAL informed that 

same employee that he would not be correcting the filing because he was returning to Florida the 

following day.  

 On August 17, 2017, LEAL appeared for his sentencing hearing. At that hearing, LEAL proved 

himself to be a conman through and through. First, LEAL lied to this Court and stated that the property 

at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue was free of any liens (the exact type of misrepresentation that landed him 

in this mess in the first place). Id., at 122. Second, LEAL lied to this Court and stated that he properly 

filed a lien against that property and in favor of the State, as required by the terms of the plea agreement. 

Id. As explained above, at the time LEAL made that false statement to this Court, he was well aware that 

his attempted filing (which took place one day prior to sentencing) was suspended.  

Fortunately, this Court was not the latest victim of LEAL’s lies, as LEAL was sentenced to a 72- 

to 180-month term of imprisonment. Id., at 138. A day after the sentencing, the Recorder’s Office 

accepted documentation from the undersigned Deputy and lifted the suspension on the lien required under 

the terms of LEAL’s GPA.1 

/ / / 

                                                 

  1 Garcia failed to appear for sentencing. The Court issued a bench warrant for her arrest. Subsequently, 

Garcia was apprehended in Florida and transported to Clark County, Nevada. Her sentencing is presently 

scheduled for May 8, 2018. 
STATE 00205
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Following his conviction, LEAL filed a frivolous appeal, arguing two issues: 

(1) “The District Court erred by permitting the state to breach the plea agreement without holding 

an evidentiary hearing under Gamble v. State, 95 Nev. 904 (1979), etc., to determine blame 

for the breach.” 

(2) “The District Court erred by denying Motion to Withdraw Counsel with an unwaivable 

conflict under Clark v. State, 108 Nev. 324 (1992).” 

LEAL now moves for bail pending appeal. Motion. 

ARGUMENT 

 “Bail may be allowed pending appeal or certiorari unless it appears that the appeal is frivolous or 

taken for delay.” NRS 178.488(1). When faced with a motion for bail pending appeal, the Court is to 

consider: 

(1) “whether the appeal is frivolous or taken for delay”; and  

(2) “whether the applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to the community.” 

Bergna v. State, 120 Nev. 869, 877 (2004). The Nevada Supreme Court has explained that “[t]he nature 

and quality of the evidence adduced at trial and the circumstances of the offense are highly relevant 

considerations in evaluating these factors.” Id. Additionally, “evaluation of these concerns may 

encompass a wide range of information, including the applicant’s prior criminal record, attempted 

escapes from confinement, community associations, and employment status.” Id.  

An applicant “who faces a substantial term of imprisonment will shoulder a heavy burden to 

demonstrate, not only that the appeal is not frivolous, nor taken for delay, but also that his or her release 

will not pose a risk of flight or danger to the community.” Id. Here, LEAL most certainly cannot satisfy 

that heavy burden. 

I. Factor no. 1 – whether the appeal is frivolous or taken for delay. 

LEAL’s appeal is clearly frivolous, as his two arguments are based on events that simply did not 

take place.  

With respect to LEAL’s first issue on appeal, contrary to LEAL’s contentions otherwise, the State 

clearly did not breach the term of the plea agreement. Under the terms of the plea agreement, should 

STATE 00206
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LEAL fail to have restitution paid at the time of sentencing, the State would have the right to argue for 

imprisonment. That is exactly what happened.  

LEAL comically argues: “To both require the sale of a property to pay restitution and at the same 

time require that a lien by placed on the same property is akin to requiring a defendant to appear at a 

sentencing hearing while blockading them in their home.” Motion at 9:11-9:14. First, the terms of the 

guilty plea agreement did not require the sale of the property at 1024 Santa Helena Avenue. Second, 

LEAL’s suggestion that the State’s lien on the property prevented its sale is utterly absurd. LEAL did not 

even attempt to record the lien until the day after sentencing. Moreover, as explained above, the lien 

filing was suspended until after LEAL’s sentencing. Further, if anyone knows how to sell an encumbered 

property, it is LEAL; that is exactly why he is in the mess he presently finds himself. Thus, there is clearly 

no merit to LEAL’s suggestion that the lien requirement made it impossible for LEAL to sell the property 

prior to the date of his sentencing.2   

LEAL makes much of his supposed good faith efforts to pay restitution. Whether LEAL made 

any such good faith efforts is irrelevant. The terms of the guilty plea agreement require the payment of 

restitution, not good faith efforts to pay restitution. Through no fault of the State, LEAL failed to satisfy 

his restitution obligation. Thus, the State was free argue for a term of imprisonment. 

LEAL’s second appellate argument – that the District Court erred in denying his trial court 

attorney’s motion to withdraw as counsel – is equally unavailing. LEAL specifically argues that an 

unwaivable conflict existed under NRCP 1.7(b)(3) because LEAL and GARCIA “had been required to 

pay restitution, but it was not paid due to [GARCIA’s] malfeasance and domestic violence restraining 

order against her.” Motion at 11:11-11:13. On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court will be reviewing any 

such denial for an abuse of discretion. Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 968 (2004). 

As a preliminary matter, it must be noted that LEAL’s trial attorney did not file a written motion 

to withdraw as trial counsel, as required under EDCR 7.40. Additionally, any motion made the day of 

sentencing would be barred under EDCR 7.40(c), which provides: “No application for withdrawal or 

                                                 
2 Even if LEAL had filed the lien in a timely manner, it certainly would have made no impact upon any 

sale of the property. The lien was in the amount of $600,314.83. If the property is truly worth in excess 

of a million dollars as LEAL contends, there would be no reason for the lien to have any effect whatsoever 

on the buyer, as the lien would be paid off in its entirety when any such sale would be completed.  
STATE 00207
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substitution may be granted if a delay of the trial or of the hearing of any other matter in the case would 

result.” Moreover, even if it is determined that trial counsel properly moved to withdraw, any such motion 

was properly denied on the merits.  

 The failure of LEAL and GARCIA to pay restitution did not create any conflict, let alone an 

unwaivable one. They were both responsible for payment of the restitution, regardless of whether they 

were willing and able to work together to get it paid. No amount of excuses would have relieved LEAL 

of that obligation. As explained above, the State did not prevent LEAL from repaying his victims. And 

it makes no difference whether GARCIA prevented him from doing so; even if we are to assume (for the 

sake of argument) that fact to be true, the terms of the guilty plea agreement do not provide LEAL with 

any relief on that basis.  

 LEAL’s trial attorney could have jumped up and down, yelling and screaming about how 

GARCIA supposedly wronged LEAL. It would have been all for naught, as any such claim affords LEAL 

no relief from his obligations.  

 Finally, even if a conflict existed, LEAL knowingly and effectively waived it in conformance 

with the requirements established in Ryan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark, 123 

Nev. 419 (2007).3 AA, at 100-02. LEAL ignores the clearly applicable opinion of Ryan and instead relies 

upon Clark v. State, 108 Nev. 324 (1992) – a case that has absolutely nothing to do with dual 

                                                 
3 In Ryan, the Nevada Supreme Court explained, in pertinent part: 

 

[W]hen a non-indigent criminal defendant’s choice of counsel results in dual or multiple 

representation of clients with potentially conflicting interests, the defendant may waive 

the right to conflict-free counsel. An attorney or firm attempting to engage in dual or 

multiple representation of two or more criminal defendants must advise the defendants of 

their right to seek independent counsel to advise them on the potential conflict of interest. 

If the defendants choose not to seek the advice of independent counsel, they must 

expressly waive their right to do so, or their waiver of conflict-free representation will be 

ineffective. When a defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the right 

to conflict-free representation, the district court must accept the waiver. Once the district 

court accepts the waiver, the defendant cannot subsequently seek a mistrial arising 

out of the conflict he waived and cannot subsequently claim that the conflict he 

waived resulted in ineffective assistance of counsel. 

 

123 Nev., at 430-31 (emphasis added). LEAL’s waiver satisfies these requirements. AA, at 100-02. 
STATE 00208
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representation of codefendants – in support of his claim that this Court erred in denying his trial attorney’s 

supposed motion to withdraw. 

  
II. Factor no. 2 – whether the applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to the 

community. 
 

As noted above, in determining whether applicant’s release may pose a risk of flight or danger to 

the community, the Court may consider a number of factors, including: 

(A) The circumstances of the offense; 

(B) The applicant’s criminal history; 

(C) The applicant’s community associations; and 

(D) The applicant’s employment status. 

Here, evaluation of these factors clearly supports the conclusion that LEAL’s release would pose a serious 

risk of both flight and danger to the community. 

A. The circumstances of the offense.  

In the present case, LEAL stole a total of $757,4204 from eleven victims. In his Motion, LEAL 

contends that he “essentially sold the properties as is and did not tell [the victims] that they were 

encumbered, as opposed to misrepresenting them as unencumbered.” Motion 4:14-4:15. That is a flat out 

lie. LEAL, knowing that these properties were encumbered, sold these properties while knowingly and 

intentionally – and in some cases personally – falsely telling the victims that these properties were free 

and clear of any security interests.  

In doing so, LEAL left his victims’ finances and lives in ruins. He wrecked retirement plans. He 

wiped out a grandchild’s college savings. LEAL’s victims continue to suffer as a result of his greed.  

Now, LEAL wants to reenter society and continue his life as if he did no wrong, all while his 

victims try to scrap their lives back together. The filing of his frivolous appeal does not undue all of the 

damage LEAL has caused while running his criminal enterprise. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

                                                 
4 In his motion, LEAL incorrectly contends that the restitution total is $694,420.  
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B. The applicant’s criminal history.  

LEAL is a conman. In 2008, in Berwyn, Illinois, LEAL was convicted of felony Theft by 

Deception. A week later, in Lyons, Illinois, LEAL again was convicted of felony Theft by Deception. He 

finds himself back in the criminal justice system in the present matter as a result of his fraudulent conduct. 

In other words, LEAL is a habitually fraudulent felon within the meaning of the term set forth in NRS 

207.014. LEAL has two misdemeanor convictions out of Illinois for the crime of Resist Peace Officer 

(2003 and 2006). Given this history, there is no reason to believe that, if released from custody, LEAL 

would begin to abide by the law.  

C. The applicant’s community associations. 

In his Motion, LEAL states: “If permitted by the Court, Applicant would testify that he moved to 

Clark County in 2013 and has lived here since.” If he so testified, he would be committing perjury. 

According to his PSI, LEAL’s address is in Apopka, Florida. Additionally, as explained above, after 

LEAL was informed that he would have to return to the Clark County Recorder’s Office to lift the 

suspension on his lien filing, LEAL stated that he was returning to Florida the following day.  

To the extent that LEAL has resided in Nevada, his community associations can only be described 

as deplorable. He ran his criminal enterprise in Nevada with his coconspirator/wife, GARCIA, who has 

an impressive rap sheet of her own. Also associated with LEAL’s criminal enterprise was Jacory 

Williams, an upstanding individual who (at last check) has an active warrant issued out of California for 

charges stemming from him pimping out his underage niece. Williams was also previously convicted for 

making/passing a false check.  

Aside from directing his criminal enterprise here in Nevada, LEAL’s connections to Nevada 

appear to be tenuous, at best. In a phone call made from CCDC after LEAL was sentenced, LEAL directed 

an associate to retrieve a vehicle LEAL parked near the courthouse – along with $25,000 cash LEAL left 

in the car. Combining that fact with the fact that LEAL had already expressed that he would be returning 

to Florida after his sentencing, it is clear that there is a high risk LEAL would flee Nevada if given the 

opportunity.  

D. The applicant’s employment status. 

STATE 00210
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Aside from running a criminal enterprise, it appears that LEAL has no ability and/or willingness 

to maintain gainful employment.  

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Defendant’s 

Motion for Bail Pending Appeal.  

Dated this 23rd day of April, 2018. 

 

SUBMITTED BY:  

       ADAM PAUL LAXALT 

       Attorney General 

By: /s/ Michael C. Kovac                   
       MICHAEL C. KOVAC (Bar No. 11177) 
       Chief Deputy Attorney General 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Office of the Attorney General, State of Nevada, and that 

on April 23, 2018, I filed the foregoing document via this Court’s electronic filing system. Parties that 

are registered with this Court’s EFS will be served electronically. The following parties are not registered 

and therefore, a prepaid postage copy of this document has been placed in the U.S. mail. 

 

Craig Muller, Esq. 

600 South Eighth Street 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

Attorney for Jack Leal 

 

 

 

/s/ A. Reber     

A. Reber, an employee of  

the office of the Nevada Attorney General  
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Case Type: Felony
Date Filed: 11/29/2016
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Lead Attorneys
Defendant GARCIA, JESSICA Jason G. Weiner, ESQ
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State of Nevada

C����� I����������

Charges: GARCIA, JESSICA Statute Level Date
1.  Racketeering [53190] 207.400 Felony 03/01/2015
2.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 06/01/2015
3.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/20/2015
4.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
5.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
6.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/01/2015
7.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/01/2015
8.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/21/2015
9.  Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/05/2015
10.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 08/13/2016

11.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 09/28/2015

12.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 03/09/2015

13.
 

Theft, $3500+ [55991] 205.0835.4 Felony 04/16/2015

14.
 

LEWDNESS WITH A MINOR UNDER 14 201.230 Felony 03/01/2015
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   DISPOSITIONS
04/11/2017  Disposition (Judicial Officer: Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

 1. Racketeering [53190]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

2. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

3. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

4. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

5. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

6. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

7. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

8. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

9. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

10. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

11. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

12. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court
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13. Theft, $3500+ [55991]
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

14. LEWDNESS WITH A MINOR UNDER 14
Waiver of Preliminary Hearing - Bound Over to District Court

   
   OTHER EVENTS AND HEARINGS
11/28/2016  Multi-Defendant Case
11/28/2016  CTRACK Track Assignment JC07
11/29/2016  Criminal Complaint
11/29/2016  Summons Issued
11/29/2016  Request for Summons
12/19/2016  Notice of Confirmation of Counsel
12/27/2016

  
Initial Appearance  (7:30 AM) (Judicial Officers Pro Tempore, Judge, Hua, Jeannie)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

12/27/2016  Counsel Confirms as Attorney of Record
J. Weiner, Esq

12/27/2016  Amended Criminal Complaint
Filed in open court

12/27/2016  Initial Appearance Completed
Defense Advised of Charges on Criminal Complaint, Waives Reading of Criminal Complaint

12/27/2016  Motion to Continue - Defense
for negotiations - Motion granted

12/27/2016  Continued For Negotiations
12/27/2016  Minute Order - Department 07
02/07/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

02/07/2017  Motion to Continue - Defense
for negotiations - Motion granted

02/07/2017  Continued For Negotiations
02/07/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
03/07/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

03/07/2017  Continued by Stipulation of Counsel
03/07/2017  Stipulation

filed in open court
03/07/2017  Continued For Negotiations
03/07/2017  Notify

Attorney General/clm via email
03/07/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/04/2017

  
Negotiations  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Matter Heard

04/04/2017  Motion to Continue - Defense
to file a corrected Waiver - Motion granted

04/04/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/11/2017

  
Status Check  (8:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Bennett-Haron, Karen P.)

No bail posted
Result: Bound Over

04/11/2017  Waiver
of Unconditional Bindover filed in open court

04/11/2017
  

Unconditional Bind Over to District Court
Defendant unconditionally waives right to Preliminary Hearing. Defendant Bound Over to District Court as Charged. Defendant to Appear in the
Lower Level Arraignment Courtroom A.

04/11/2017  Case Closed - Bound Over
04/11/2017  District Court Appearance Date Set

Apr 20 2017 10:00AM: No bail posted
04/11/2017  Minute Order - Department 07
04/18/2017  Certificate, Bindover and Order to Appear
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